Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 46753-4-II
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
vs.

Robert Leonard
Appellant/Petitioner

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-01192-9
The Honorable Judge Michael H. Evans

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Manek R. Mistry
Jodi R. Backlund
Skylar T. Brett
Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

BACKLUND & MISTRY
P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Robert Leonard, the appellant below, asks the court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referenced in Section II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Robert Leonard seeks review of the Court of Appeals opinion entered on March 9, 2016. A copy of the opinion is attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1: May an appellant argue the sufficiency prong of the *corpus delicti* rule for the first time on review?

ISSUE 2: Did the prosecution fail to present sufficient independent evidence establishing the *corpus delicti* of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes?

ISSUE 3: If the *corpus delicti* issue is not preserved, was Mr. Leonard deprived of the effective assistance of counsel by his attorney's failure to object to the use of his statement at trial?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Leonard falsely confessed to sexual relationships with two 13-year-old "boys." RP 300-318, 325, 327-329. One of these "boys" turned out to be a middle-aged man. RP 325. Police could not verify the

existence of the second “boy,” even after investigating the details provided by Mr. Leonard. RP 313-317, 325-326.

During this same interview, Mr. Leonard admitted to an online relationship with C.H. RP 300-307. The two had met through an adult website, which required users to verify they were over the age of eighteen. RP 67. C.H. lied about his age to gain access to the website. RP 67. He also told Mr. Leonard that he was an adult, and never told him his true age. CP 8; RP 66.¹ He sent Mr. Leonard photos of young men who appeared to be in their late teens or early twenties, and claimed they were photos of himself. Ex. 12, pp. 34-35, 67-70.

Because C.H. was actually 13, the state charged Mr. Leonard with communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 2-3. Mr. Leonard’s statement to police (that C.H. was 13 when they met) was the only direct evidence suggesting Mr. Leonard knew C.H.’s age. RP 305. C.H. testified that he never told Mr. Leonard his true age, and records of their communication confirmed this testimony. RP 66; Ex. 12, 16.

At Mr. Leonard’s bench trial, defense counsel did not make a *corpus delicti* objection to the admission of his client’s statements. RP 8-

¹ C.H. alluded to school and “band camp,” but did not clarify whether he was in high school or college. See Ex. 12, p. 99; Ex. 16, p. 14. He told Mr. Leonard he would need to wait two years until he could visit in person, but did not explain why. Ex. 12, p. 55; RP 66-67.

369. Nor did he argue in closing that the independent evidence was insufficient under the *corpus delicti* rule. RP 361-369.

The trial judge acknowledged that the electronic communications were insufficient to establish that Mr. Leonard knew C.H. was a minor. RP 379-380. Despite this, the court found Mr. Leonard guilty based on his admission that C.H. was 13 when they met. RP 381.²

Mr. Leonard appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. CP 31; Appendix.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that a non-constitutional sufficiency claim (such as a *corpus delicti*) argument may be raised for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(2). This case raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(4).

A party may raise “for the first time in the appellate court... failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted.” RAP 2.5(a)(2). This allows a party to raise sufficiency errors that do not fit within RAP 2.5(a)(3), including non-constitutional errors and errors that are not manifest. *State v. Sweany*, 162 Wn. App. 223, 228, 256 P.3d 1230 (2011) *aff'd*, 174 Wn.2d 909, 281 P.3d 305 (2012). A defendant “may always

² In written findings, the court asserted that C.H. told Mr. Leonard his age. CP 7-14. Mr. Leonard challenged these findings as unsupported. *See* Appellant’s Opening Brief, pp. 1, 10-11, n. 2, 3.

challenge the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a conviction for the first time on review.”³ *Id.*

The *corpus delicti* rule is first and foremost a rule of evidentiary sufficiency: “A confession not corroborated by independent evidence of the *corpus delicti* is not sufficient to support a conviction of crime.” *State v. Marselle*, 43 Wash. 273, 276, 86 P. 586 (1906). The modern rule is also a rule governing the admissibility of evidence. *State v. Dow*, 168 Wn.2d 243, 249-254, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010) (noting that RCW 10.58.035 governs issues of admissibility, and preserves intact the common law rule’s requirements regarding sufficiency).

In this case, the Court of Appeals addressed Mr. Leonard’s sufficiency argument only in the context of his ineffective assistance claim. Appendix, pp. 3-7. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that issues of evidentiary sufficiency under the *corpus delicti* rule may be addressed for the first time on appeal, under RAP 2.5(a)(2). This issue is of substantial public interest, and should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the state failed to present sufficient independent evidence of the *corpus delicti* of communication with a minor for immoral purposes. The

³ In the alternative, failure to raise a proper objection under the *corpus delicti* rule will inevitably constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, as argued below.

Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Dow* and *Brockob*. Furthermore, this case raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(4).

A factfinder may not consider an accused person's statements unless the prosecution *prima facie* establishes the *corpus delicti* of the charged crime by evidence independent of those statements. *Dow*, 168 Wn.2d at 255; *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 328, 150 P.3d 59 (2006). Under the *corpus delicti* rule, the independent evidence must corroborate "the specific crime with which the defendant has been charged." *Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d at 329 (emphasis in original). In other words, it must *prima facie* establish each element of the charged crime.⁴ *Dow*, 168 Wn.2d at 251, 254.

Here, the independent evidence was completely insufficient to prove that Mr. Leonard knew that C.H. was a minor.⁵ Mr. Leonard met C.H. on a website restricted to users over the age of eighteen. RP 67. C.H. lied about his age to gain access to the website, and told Mr. Leonard he was an adult. RP 66-67; CP 8. C.H. also testified that he never Mr.

⁴ Under cases that predate *Brockob* and *Dow*, the independent evidence need not establish "the degree of the generic crime charged." *State v. Mason*, 31 Wn. App. 41, 48, 639 P.2d 800 (1982). This rule does not survive *Brockob* and *Dow*.

⁵ To convict Mr. Leonard, the state was required to prove that Mr. Leonard intended his communications to reach a minor. *State v. Aljutily*, 149 Wn. App. 286, 296, 202 P.3d 1004 (2009).

Leonard his true age. RP 66.⁶ He shared photos of young men who did not appear to be minors, and claimed that the photos were of him. Ex. 12, pp. 34-35, 67-70.

The trial court found that the electronic communications were insufficient to show that Mr. Leonard knew C.H.'s true age. RP 379-380. To convict Mr. Leonard, the trial judge explicitly relied on his statement to police that C.H. was 13 when they met. RP 381. But Mr. Leonard had made similar statements that were demonstrably false, referring once to a middle-aged man and another time to an imaginary "boy." RP 313-317, 325-326.

To prove a *prima facie* case, the state's independent evidence must be consistent with guilt and inconsistent with a hypothesis of innocence. *Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d at 329. If the independent evidence supports reasonable and logical inferences of both guilt and innocence, it is insufficient. *Id.*, at 329-330.

Here, the independent evidence cannot establish the *corpus delicti*. The independent evidence—which the trial court found insufficient—was consistent with Mr. Leonard's innocence. An adult in college might go to

⁶ The court made several unsupported findings suggesting that C.H. eventually revealed his true age. CP 7-14. Mr. Leonard assigned error to these findings. See Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 1, 10-11, n. 2, 3. Because the findings are unsupported by substantial evidence, they must be vacated. *State v. Homan*, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105-106, 330 P.3d 182 (2014).

“band camp” and might need to wait two years to visit Washington from Pennsylvania. C.H.’s references to his life do not *prima facie* establish the *corpus delicti* of the offense. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Leonard’s conviction because the electronic communications “provide[] an inference that Leonard intended his communications to reach a minor.” Appendix, p. 7. According to the Court of Appeals, it “is beside the point” that the independent evidence was consistent with a hypothesis of innocence. Appendix, p. 7.

This approach conflicts with the Supreme Court’s decisions in *Dow* and *Brockob*. The Supreme Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Furthermore, this case raises an issue that is of substantial public interest, and should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)4).

C. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that Mr. Leonard was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel by his attorney’s failure to object under the *corpus delicti* rule. This case raises a significant question of constitutional law that is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

As outlined above, the state failed to prove the *corpus delicti* of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. A successful *corpus delicti* challenge would have resulted in dismissal of the charge. *Dow*, 168 Wn.2d at 255. Accordingly, there is a reasonable probability that the error

affected the outcome. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). No reasonable strategy could justify counsel's failure to raise the issue.

If the *corpus delicti* issue may not be raised for the first time on review, Mr. Leonard was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel. *Id.*; *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). His conviction must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862.

The Court of Appeals did not address Mr. Leonard's *corpus delicti* claim directly. Instead, the court examined the merits of his claim in the context of his ineffective assistance argument. Appendix, pp. 3-7. The court found that Mr. Leonard was not deprived of the effective assistance of counsel. Appendix, pp. 3-7.

If the *corpus delicti* argument is not available for the first time on review under RAP 2.5(a)(2), the Supreme Court should accept review of Mr. Leonard's ineffective assistance claim and reverse the conviction. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to raise the *corpus delicti* argument in the trial court. This case presents a significant question of constitutional law that is of substantial public interest and should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).