NO. 92989-1 COA NO. 46753-4-II Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 13-1-01192-9

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT LEONARD,

Appellant/Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN JURVAKAINEN Prosecuting Attorney AILA WALLACE/WSBA 46898 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, by and through the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office, respectfully requests this Court deny review of the March 9, 2016, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Leonard*, COA No. 46753-4-11. The relevant portion of this decision upheld the petitioner's conviction for one count of communication with a minor for immoral purposes.

II. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals properly held that the State produced sufficient independent evidence at trial to satisfy *corpus delicti* and trial counsel was not ineffective.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Leonard and C.H., a minor boy, met in an online chat room in 2011. RP 301. C.H. was thirteen at the time and his voice had not yet deepened. RP 71. C.H. also made it known that he was a minor. RP 62.

Leonard and C.H. continued to talk with each other via phone, email, and text messages for a little over a year. Their conversations were largely sexual in nature. RP 40–41, 63, 302. Eventually, in October 2012, C.H.'s mother discovered these conversations on C.H.'s cell phone. She called police who investigated and ultimately charged Leonard with one count of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. During the investigation, Leonard admitted to having the conversations with C.H. and admitted to knowing that C.H. was a minor. RP 301.

IV. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court only if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Neither in the petition for review nor in the decision from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of the four conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Division II Court of Appeals holding in this case is not in conflict with any decisions either the Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court Appeals. The holding also does not raise a significant question of law or involve an issue of substantial public interest.

A. This Court should decline to review the *corpus* challenge as the defendant failed to object at trial to the entry of his statements and thereby waived his right to appeal.

The *corpus delicti* rule "is a judicially created rule of evidence, not a constitutional sufficiency of the evidence requirement, and a defendant must make proper objection to the trial court to preserve the issue." *State v. Dodgen*, 81 Wn. App. 487, 492, 915 P.2d 531 (1996) *citing State v. C.D.W.*, 76 Wn. App. 761, 763-64, 887 P.2d 911 (1995) (failure to comply with the *corpus delicti* rule is not constitutional error and requires proper objection at the trial level).

In the present case, Leonard did not object to the entry of his statements at trial. RP 326–27. This failure to object waives any issue on appeal. In fact, the failure to object precludes appellate review because, even if *corpus delicti* was not met, sufficient proof may have existed during trial but failure to object omits that proof from the record. *C.D.W.*, 76 Wn. App. at 763–64. The Court of Appeals reviewed this issue in the guise of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, which is a constitutional issue that may be raised for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a). However, *corpus* is not a sufficiency of the evidence requirement. Additionally, this is not an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by

the Supreme Court. Therefore, this Court should not grant Leonard's petition and the analysis should end here. However, if this Court hears the issue, the State produced sufficient independent evidence at trial to satisfy *corpus delicti*.

B. The Court of Appeals properly held that the State produced sufficient independent evidence at trial to satisfy *corpus delicti*.

Corpus delicti means the "body of the crime" and must be proven by evidence sufficient to support the inference that there has been a criminal act. *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d 640, 655, 927 P.2d 210 (1996). A defendant's incriminating statement alone is not sufficient to establish that a crime took place. *Id.; State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 796, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). The State must present other independent evidence to corroborate a defendant's incriminating statement. *Aten*, 130 Wn.2d at 656. In other words, the State must present evidence independent of the incriminating statement that the crime a defendant described in the statement actually occurred.

In determining whether there is sufficient independent evidence under the *corpus delicti* rule, courts review the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *Aten*, 130 Wash.2d at 658. The independent evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction, but it must provide *prima facie* corroboration of the crime described in a defendant's incriminating statement. *Id.* at 656. *Prima facie* corroboration exists if the independent evidence supports a "logical and reasonable inference of the facts sought to be proved." *Id.* (*quoting Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d at 796).

In addition to corroborating a defendant's incriminating statement, the independent evidence "must be consistent with guilt and inconsistent with a hypothesis of innocence." *Id.* at 660 (*quoting State v. Lung*, 70 Wn.2d 365, 372, 423 P.2d 72 (1967)). If the independent evidence supports "reasonable and logical inferences of both criminal agency and noncriminal cause," it is insufficient to corroborate a defendant's admission of guilt. *Id.*

Leonard was charged with and convicted of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes and it was alleged that the communication took place through electronic means. RCW 9.68.090(2). An immoral purpose refers to sexual misconduct. *State v. Falco*, 59 Wn. App. 354, 358, 796 P.2d 796 (1990). The State showed the appellant communicated through text messages as well as emails regarding sexual conduct with a minor boy, who was between the ages of thirteen and fourteen at the time of the communication. The State showed the appellant understood the victim to be at least two years younger than sixteen; this specific period was referenced in a text conversation with the victim. RP 167–69. In that conversation, the following email/text exchange took place:

5

Leonard: "Love you beyond any reason, [C.H.]. Wish you were here with me, but you have a couple years to wait."

C.H.: "Yes, but when those years are over, I'll make my way up to you no matter what or how." RP 169.

Additionally, the State showed that on multiple occasions, between August 2012 and October 2012, Leonard had phone conversations with the victim. RP 82. This fact is crucial because the victim's voice did not change due to puberty until several years after those conversations took place. RP 71. The court took pains to differentiate between conversations and communications. It found that Leonard had "a clue" of the victim's age through these conversations. RP 379-80. Furthermore, the state presented evidence including a message from C.H. to Leonard that he had to be asleep for school, an email discussing that C.H. was going to band camp, and C.H.'s own testimony that he gave Leonard clues about his age. RP 129; Ex. 16 at 14; RP 66. This evidence was sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the appellant committed the charged crime. Therefore, *corpus delicti* was established.

Furthermore, the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is not in contrast with the Supreme Court's decision in *Dow* or *Brockob*. First, there is a difference between no evidence of guilt and some evidence of guilt that should not be overlooked. Leonard confuses the two when citing *State v. Dow*, where the State conceded it could not present any evidence of guilt. 168 Wn.2d 243, 254, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010). Here, the State presented evidence showing that Leonard knew the victim must wait two years before he could meet him. Even if Leonard's acknowledgment that the victim could not be with him for another two years is not considered sufficient evidence to show knowledge of the victim's age, that acknowledgment coupled with the phone calls suggests the appellant was aware. Additionally, Leonard admitted to knowing that the victim was between the ages of thirteen and fourteen. RP 289. These all indicate some evidence of guilt, in contrast to *Dow* where there was no evidence of guilt.

Similarly, in *Brockob*, there was no evidence to support an inference that the defendant guilty of the crime with which he was charged. 159 Wn.2d 311, 332, 150 P.3d 59 (2006). Brockob was caught shoplifting Sudafed, and was charged with one count of unlawful possession of pseudoephedrine with intent to manufacture methamphetamine. *Id.* at 319. The defendant admitted that he stole the Sudafed to give to someone who was going to make methamphetamine, but the State had no independent evidence to support this assertion other than an officer's assertion that Sudafed is a methamphetamine precursor. *Id.* at 332. Therefore, the Court found that the State's evidence only supported an inference that Brockob had shoplifted, not that he was guilty of possession with intent. *Id.* Here,

7

on the other hand, there was evidence that C.H.'s voice was higher in pitch, he was in school, and could not visit Leonard for two more years. Taken together, there is sufficient evidence to support an inference that Leonard was guilty of the crime with which he was charged – communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. Therefore, the Court of Appeals decision in this case is not in conflict with any other case, nor is it an issue of substantial public interest. The petition should be denied.

C. Leonard received effective assistance of counsel.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show both that counsel's performance was deficient and that the performance prejudiced the defendant's case. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). Deficient performance is shown if counsel's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 705–06, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). To satisfy the prejudice prong, a defendant must show a "reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334–35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

There is a strong presumption that counsel provided effective assistance. *State v. Tilton*, 149 Wn.2d 775, 784, 72 P.3d 735 (2003). To rebut this presumption, a defendant bears the burden of establishing the

absence of any "conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance." *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (*quoting State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004)).

When a defendant claims ineffective assistance based on counsel's failure to challenge the admission of evidence, the defendant must show (1) an absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct; (2) that an objection to the evidence would likely have been sustained, and (3) that the result of the trial would have been different had the evidence not been admitted. *McFarland*, 127 Wash.2d at 337 n. 4; *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wash.2d 61, 80, 917 P.2d 563 (1996).

Given the evidence presented, it cannot be said that any objection would have been sustained. Furthermore, the court made its finding of guilt based on the evidence presented outside of the appellant's statements. Juries are allowed to make inferences from all relevant evidence. Trial courts are permitted to make the same inferences. If the trial court made its finding of guilt based on the evidence outside of the appellant's statements, it is safe to presume any objection would not have been sustained. Failure to object is a matter of legitimate trial strategy and appellant has not overcome his burden. Therefore, the petition should be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Petitioner's petition for discretionary

review should be denied.